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The Sannoner Historic District contains 25 structures of historic and 
architectural significance, constructed during a period of 100 years, from 1825 
to 1925. The district, which, includes one block of North Court Street and one 
block of North. Pine, is bounded on the south by Tuscaloosa Avenue and the down­ 
town business district; and on the north by the campus of the University of North 
Alabama.

The central block of the district presents an almost parklike appearance, containing 
only seven buildings which vary in size and style and are irregularly spaced 
within the area. By contrast the half blocks to the east and west are lined 
with evenly and closely spaced structures which despite the variety of materials 
and styles achieve a fairly cohesive appearance, further unified by, sidewalks 
and trees.

The focal point of the district is Courtview, one of the finest Greek Revival 
mansions in the northern section of the state. The structure is situated at the 
northern end of Court Street, the highest point in downtown Florence, and dominates 
the entire district. Begun in 1855 by George Washington Foster, the three story 
brick structure necessitated an act of the state legislature to close off the 
street in order that the wealthy planter could build his home. Foster was 
voted permission on the condition that the house be of such beauty that it would 
justify the inconvenience caused the people of the town.

The resulting structure, which is heavily influence by the Greek Revival architec­ 
ture of Tennessee and Kentucky, is massive and rectangular in shape with a 
half-recessed central portico employing four Ionic columns.

Eight buildings line the eastern side of North Court Street. The most notable 
house within this group is Wakefield (4), constructed in 1825, a If story, 
brick structure of Federal styling. The house features a central pavillion 
with a partially recessed pedimented portico, fluted Tuscan columns set in antis, 
a finely executed Palladian window, delicate frieze beneath the modillioned 
cornice, windows with side lights, and gabled dormers. Both the Conner Place 
(§) and the Governor O'Neal House (7) were built in the mid-19th century and are 
li story clapboard structures with gabled dormers and central, one story, porticos. 
The O'Neal home has been altered at two different periods; in the 1920's the 
roof line was extended, and in the 1970 T s bay windows were added to the front of 
the house. The remaining structures on this side of the street include: the 
Firestone Building (1), a two story brick, commercial building constructed in 
1940; the Methodist District Superintendent's Home (2), a two story, clapboarded, 
Victorian home; the Martin Home (3), a 1 story, frame, Victorian house; the 
Zillah Conner Home (6), a 2 story, brick building constructed in 1918; and the 
Alfred O'Neal Home (8), which was constructed in the late 19th century as a 
1^ story clapboarded home. The later home was faced with lijnestone veneer in 
1925, and at the same time the present columns and large front dormer were added.
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In the central block of the district are two structures of note. Irvine Place 
(10), located on a two acre lot at the north east corner, is a two story, brick 
structure with a full basement and a hipped roof. The original one story, central 
portico with four box columns was recently removed and replaced with the present 
two story portico. The interior trim of the house is Greek Revival in feeling.

Continuing south along Court Street are the Milliken Home (11), a one story, 
clapboarded Victorian home; the Rogers Home (12), a 2 story clapboarded house 
with a columned one story portico; the Medical Arts Building (13), a 1925 
three story Spanish Revival structure; and a recently vacated corner gas station 
(14) which is soon to be removed.

The Trinity Episcopal Church (15) is located in the south-west corner of the 
central block and faces out on to Tuscaloosa Street, which forms the southern 
boundary of the district. The church is a one story brick structure of Gothic 
Revival styling and has been recently expanded with a wing which matches the 
earlier portion of the building. Directly north of the church property is a 
vacant 2 acre lot which runs the width of the block. Continuing north along 
Pine Street only two other structures are located within this block: Barr and 
Tune (16), a one story, brick, contemporary structure; and the Perry House (17), 
a 1921, two story, Tudor Revival Home.

The structures which line the western side of the street were primarily built 
during the early 20th century. The exceptions are the Ashcraft-Dabney House 
(20) and its two associated out buildings (23 & 24). The Ashcraft-Dabney 
House is a one and one-half story, brick structure with a full basement. 
The Federal style structure contains a central pedimented portico with slender, 
fluted Ionic columns and a Palladian window in the pediment. Windows have 
flat arches and fluted trim with corner blocks. Gable ends of the house have 
Federal period chimney paraphets. The elaborate entranceway is framed with 
fluted pilasters, side lights and a transom. Four fluted engaged columns 
support an entablature separating the transom from the door and side lights. 
Ihe servant's house is a single pen, clapboarded structure, while the smoke 
house is a one story, brick, gabled roof structure. Both are located to the 
rear of the Horace Springer Home (21).

The remaining houses on this row are described in the inventory and include; 
the Charles Haley Home (18), the Stutts Home (19), the Horace Springer Home (21), 
the Vaughan Home (22), the Negley Home (25), the Hushston Home (26), the 
Burtwell-Young House (27), the Lindsay House (28), and the Sid Dabney House (29).
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Inventory of Historic Structures Located Within the Sannoner Historic District

1. Firestone Building (461 N. Court): c. 1940, 2 story, brick, corniercial 
structure (now Shoals Florist.)

2. District Superintendents Home - Methodist Church (436 N. Court): c. 1890, 
Victorian, 2 story, clapboarded (now Marshall Pless Beauty Shop.)

3. Robert Martin Home (442 N. Court): 1890, Victorian, 1 story, clapboarded 
(now Cottage Florists.)

4. Wakefield (450 N. Court St.): 1825, Federal, !$• story, brick, central 
pedimented portico is partially recessed, exceptional interior and 
exterior woodwork.

5. Conner Place (458 N. Court St.): 1854, 1^ story, clapboarded, central 
1 story portico, gabled dormers.

6. Zillah Conner Home (462 N. Court St.): 1917-18, Bungaloid, 2 story,
brown brick, low pyramidal roof with gabled dormers, recently enclosed 
portico (now Laura's Gifts & Interiors.)

7. Governor O'Neal Home (468 N. Court St.): 1857, 1£ story, clapboarded,
gabled dormers, central one story portico is altered, bay windows, are 
later addition.

8. Alfred O'Neal Home (427 N. Court St.): late 19th c., originally l£ story 
clapboard, limestone veneer, columns, and front shed roof dormer added 
in 1925 (now Kappa Sigma House.)

9. Courtview (n. end of Court St.): 1855, Greek Revival, 2 story, full 
basement, partially recessed portico, 4 Ionic columns.

10. Irvine Place (459 N. Court St.): 1843, 2 story, full basement, brick, 
hipped roof, central 1 story portico replaced with present portico 
in 1950.

11. Milliken Home (419 N. Court St.): c. 1890, Victorian, 1 story, clapboarded 
(now Royal Typewriter Co.)

12. Rogers Home (413.N. Court): c. 1890, 2 story, clapboarded, 1 story full- 
width portico with grouped columns on brick pedestals (now Dr. G. D. 
Ingram Offices.)
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13. Medical Arts Building (North Court): 1925, Spanish Revival, 3 story, 
brick with stucco, tile roof.

14. Gas Station (Tuscaloosa Avenue): 1 story, brick, contemporary, to be 
removed.

15. Trinity Episcopal Church (120 W. Tuscaloosa): 1895, Gothic Revival, 
1 story, brick, limestone trim, corner vestibule tower topped with 
pyramidal roof, conforming additions made in 1968.

16. Barr and Tune Architects (454 N. Pine St.): c. 1960, 1 story, brick, 
low-pitched hipped roof.

17. Frank Perry House (472 N. Pine): 1921, Tudor Revival, 2 story, 1st 
floor brick, 2nd floor half-timbered and stucco.

18. Charles Haley Home (473 N. Pine): 1918, cottage, 14 story, brick, large 
central dormer, pyramidal columns on brick pedestals.

19. J. W. Stutts Home (467 N. Pine): 1915, 14 story, clapboarded, entrance 
porch is on gable-end.

20. Ashcraft-Dabney House (461 N. Pine): 1832, Federal, 14 story, full 
basement, brick, central 1 story pedimented portico, Ionic columns, 
Palladian window in pediment.

21. Horace Springer Home (451 N. Pine): 1941, 14 story, clapboarded, gable 
roof with dormer.

22. Vaughan Home (443 N. Pine): 1918, 14 story, brick, large front gable.

23. Smoke House associated with Ashcraft-Dabney House (rear of 443 N. Pine): 
one story, brick.

24. Servants House associated with Ashcraft-Dabney House (rear of 443 N. Pine): 
one story, clapboarded.

25. Negley Home (433 N. Pine St.): c. 1900, 1 story, frame, covered with 
Perma-stone.

26. John Hushston Home (431 N. Pine St.): 1917, Neo-classical Revival 
influences, 1 story, clapboarded, pedimented portico with grouped 
Tuscan columns.
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27. Burtwell-Young House (423 N. Pine): 19th c, 2^ story, 1st floor brick with 
wooden upper floors, gambrel roof, large shed dormers; basement and some 
materials predate Civil War.

28. Lindsay House (417 N. Pine St.): 1923, Bungaloid, 2 story, brick, low 
hipped roof.

29. Sid Dabney Home (415 N. Pine): c. 1925, Bungalow, 1 story, shingled.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Sannoner Historic District contains the finest collection of early and mid-19th. 
century architecture within the city of Florence, as well as good examples of the 
later and more modest structures built during the late 19th. and early 20th. century. 
The architectural character of the district reflects the taste and lifestyles of dis­ 
tinct groups of people, who at different periods in the city's growth, comprised a 
significant portion of its cultural and economic base. Additionally the district has 
been the home of two Alabama Governors: Edward Ashbury O'Neal, 1882-1886; and his 
son, Bnnet O'Neal, 1911-1915.

Construction in the district is divided into two distinct phases. During the early 
years the district was the home of wealthy planters, lawyers, and merchants, but 
during the period of economic growth jja the late 19th. century the more fashionable 
families built their homes to the east of the district and the new construction in the 
districl was primarily for the less wealthy families.

The district bears the name of Ferdinand Sannoner, an Italian-born surveyor and map 
maker, who laid out the city for the Cypress Land Company in 1818. The Company was 
a speculative venture, having as its trustees some of the more prominent men in 
the state: LeRoy Pope, Thomas Bibb, John Coffee, James Jackson, John Childress, 
Dabney Morris and John McKtnley. Of the six structures which date from the first 
half of the 19th century: one, Courtview, is listed in both the National Register 
and the Historic American Buildings Survey, while the Irvine Place and the Ashcraft- 
Dabney Home axe listed in the Historic American Buildings Survey.

The Conner Place (458 N. Court St.) was built in 1854 and sold to Henry McVay, son of 
Governor Hugh McVay. The Governor O'Neal Home (468 North Court St.) was constructed 
in the 1840's and purchased by Edward O'Neal in 1857. Wakefield, (450 N. Court St.) 
thought to be the first brick home in the town, was constructed in 1825 by James 
Sample, a merchant and operator of a brick yard. Later it served as the home of 
Dr. William H. Mitchell, a prominent Presbyterian minister and president of the 
Florence Synodical Female College.

The most impressive structure within the district is Courtview, constructed by George 
Washington Foster in 1855, and later the home of Governor Bnnet O'Neal. The other 
early structures in the district include the Irvine Place (459 North Court) built in 
1843 by John Simpson, a merchant and real estate agent; and the Ashcraft-Dabney Home 
(461 North Pine) constructed in 1832 by James Irvine, a state legislator and member 
of the constitutional convention of 1865. Associated with Dabney Home are a servants
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quarters and smoke house.

As the tide of Civil War swept through North Alabama, the district bore the 
brunt of occupations. Officers of both Confederate and Union armies were 
quartered in the homes and their troops camped on the lawns and fields surrounding 
them. General Nathan Bedford Forrest, his wife and son, Lieutenant William 
Forrest, were guests at Courtview on November 6, 1864. General Stephen D. Lee 
made his headquarters at Wakefield and General P. G. T. Beaureguard was also 
in this area of town.

During the Reconstruction years there was virtually no new construction in the 
district, but during the period of several industrial growths during the late 
19th century, lots were subdivided and several new homes were built. During 
this period, Florence grew from a population of 2,000 in 1880 to a population of 
6,000 ten years later. Well located on the banks of the Tennessee River "with 
railroads radiating from her borders to all points of the compass", the town 
attracted business and industry, among the most notable was the Florence Wagon 
Works, the manufacturer of the "Light Running Florence Wagon", which became a 
household work in many states and foreign countries.

Later construction took place in the district in the second decade of the 20th 
century when the local economy was stimulated by the construction of Wilson Dam 
and nitrate plants for national defense purposes.

Despite its proximity to the downtown business district very little encroachment 
has taken place within the district and today it retains the character of a late 
19th and early 20th century residential area.
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Beginning at a point located at the intersection of the centerlines of Tuscaloosa 
and Court Street, thence, proceeding westerly along the centerline of Tuscaloosa 
Street for a distance of approximately 644 feet; thence, proceeding northerly 
along the western boundary of those lots in block 363 which face Pine Street, 
for a distance of approximately 1,020 feet to the intersection of the centerline of 
Irvine Avenue, thence proceeding eastward for a distance of approximately 600 
feet to the western edge of Court Street; thence northerly approximately 500 feet 
to the centerline of Dormitory Street; thence proceeding generally eastward down 
the centerline of Dormitory Street to the intersection of the centerlines of 
Dormitory Street and Morrison Avenue; thence proceeding southerly for a distance 
of approximately 265 feet to the intersection of the centerlines of Morrison 
and Irvine Avenue; thence proceeding easterly along the centerline of Irvine Avenue 
for a distance of approximately 130 feet; thence proceeding wouthward along the 
eastern boundary of those lots in block 369 which face Court Street for a distance 
of approximately 747 feet to the intersection of the centerline of Hermitage Drive; 
thence, proceeding southerly for a distance of approximately 280 feet to the 
intersection of the centerlines of Hermitage Drive and Court Street; thence 
proceeding aouthward for a distance of approximately 160 feet to the intersection 
of the centerlines of Court Street and Tuscaloosa Street, the point of beginning.




